
AGENDA 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ ANNUAL MEETING 

TUESDAY, JUNE 11, 2024 – 10:00 AM 
THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD REMOTELY ON ZOOM AND IS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR REGISTERING FOR PUBLIC ACCESS TO THIS MEETING  

AND FOR SUBMISSION OF PUBLIC COMMENTS ARE LOCATED ON THE PAGE 

FOLLOWING THE AGENDA 

AGENDA 

I. Roll Call

II. Approval of Minutes of the Meeting of May 14, 2024

III. Executive Director’s Report

IV. Administrative Matters

A. Election of Board Officers and 11th Board Member

V. Property Dispositions

A. Development – Affordable Housing (unsolicited)
The properties below are proposed for disposition to Civetta Property Group LLC to develop
seventy (70) single-family homeownership units in the Eighth (8th) Councilmanic District. The
units will be two stories, with finished basements, containing three (3) bedrooms and two (2)
bathrooms at approximately 1,050 square feet each. They will be sold to households with
incomes at or below 80% of AMI for a maximum sales price of $250,000.  The homes will be
eligible for the Neighborhood Preservation Initiative’s Turn the Key Program and will be
subject to a Declaration of Restrictive Covenants. The application was unsolicited and
evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy. An EOP plan will apply to this project.

• 423-27*, 429-39* (including 429-39 Rear) E. Ashmead Street; 226*, 260*, 278*, 292*,
313* (aka 313-15) E. Bringhurst Street; 49* E. Earlham Street; 4635* Germantown
Avenue; 30 Good Street; 5608*, 5618, 5619, 5642, 5669 Heiskell Street; 4946* Keyser
Street; 316, 318-34*, 346* Mechanic Street; 5514*, 5515*, 5642* Morton Street; 6672*,
6674 Musgrave Street; 53* E. Pastorius Street; 207* E. Penn Street; 248* E. Phil Ellena
Street; 42*, 44* Reger Street; 35 E. Seymour Street; 227*, 261*, 263* E. Sharpnack Street;
4951*, 4957*, 4961*, 4975* Sheldon Street; 218, 326*, 342*, 343-45 Shedaker Street;
111*, 112* E. Springer Street; 4925*, 5222* Wakefield Street (*denotes properties being
transferred by the City of Philadelphia and Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority to the
Land Bank)

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 1 of 89



 

 

 
 

B. Side/Rear Yards 
The properties below are proposed for conveyance to the following individual applicants as a 
side or rear yard.  Each applicant owns and resides in the adjacent home.  Each property will 
be subject to a 30-year mortgage and permanently restricted for use as a side/rear yard. 
• 166 W. Cumberland Street – Pura Garcia (CD 7) 
• 2537 Mutter Street – Janet Hernandez (CD 7) 
• 1532* W. Loudon Street – Pablo A. Cortez (CD 8) (property being transferred by the City of 

Philadelphia to the Land Bank) 

 
VI. Public Comment (Old & New Business) 
 
VII. Adjournment      
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 2 of 89



 

 

 
 
FROM:  Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., Senior Counsel 

RE:  Philadelphia Land Bank June 11, 2024, Board Meeting  
Remote Board Meeting Notice, Public Attendance, and Comment Procedures 

DATE:   May 31, 2024 
 
 

The June 2024 Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank (“Land Bank”) is 
currently scheduled for Tuesday, June 11, 2024, with the executive session to begin at 9:30 A.M. and 
the meeting to begin at 10:00 A.M or as soon as the Executive Session has ended.  This meeting will be 
held remotely using Zoom webinar.  The meeting is open to public attendees and for public comments and 
questions. 

PLEASE NOTE: To participate in the meeting on your computer, you must register in advance. This 
requirement is necessary to allow us to collect the names of participants as required by law.  Using a 
computer, tablet or smartphone, use the following link:  

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_uShnioX9SLuhXBEJVc4utQ 

After registering, you will receive a confirmation email containing information about joining the webinar.  
Members of the public who join before 10 A.M. will be given access when the meeting begins.   
Webinar ID: 863 4196 8429; Passcode: 433530 

To join the meeting by calling in, dial one of the following numbers:  
+1 267 831 0333 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 6799 or +1 929 205 6099 Passcode: 433530 

The Board agenda and package will be available to view no later than five (5) days prior to the Board 
meeting at https://phdcphila.org/who-we-are/boards/philadelphia-land-bank-board/.  Public comment and 
questions regarding the matters that are posted on the agenda may be submitted by email prior to the Board 
meeting and/or in person if attending the Board meeting.   

Public Comment BEFORE Board Meeting: 
Email the following information to andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov by 3:00 p.m. on Monday, June 11, 2024: 

• Your full name and group or company affiliation, if applicable; 
• Contact information (your email address); 
• Identify the agenda item that you are addressing; and  
• State your question/comment in a clear and concise manner. 

Questions/comments submitted via email by the 3:00 pm deadline will be summarized at the Board meeting, 
answered or addressed to the extent the Board chooses, and attached to the minutes of the meeting.   

(continued on next page) 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 3 of 89

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_uShnioX9SLuhXBEJVc4utQ
https://phdcphila.org/who-we-are/boards/philadelphia-land-bank-board/
mailto:andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov


 

 

 

Public Comment DURING Board Meeting: 
To submit questions or comments during the Board meeting when public comment on an agenda item is 
requested by the Board Chair, use the “Raise Hand” function at the bottom of the screen.  Questions may 
also be submitted using the “Q&A” function. Q&A submissions will be attached to the minutes of the 
meeting. 

Individuals will be allowed two (2) minutes for public comment per person per agenda item.  
• The Chair reserves the right to limit comments when more than a certain number of people have the 

same comments on the same matter. 
• Staff will assist with timing and muting microphones as needed. 

 
Rules of Conduct: 

• Comments must be related to the specific agenda item in question.  
• There will be no personal attacks or hate speech against anyone, including applicants, staff members, 

Board members or other members of the public.  
 
Recording of Board Meeting: 
If possible, the Board meeting will be recorded and made publicly available within thirty (30) days.  If you 
have a question about an agenda item after the meeting concludes, please submit it to 
andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov with the following information: 

• Your full name and group or company affiliation, if applicable; 
• Contact information (your email address); 
• Identify the agenda item that you are addressing; and  
• State your question/comment in a clear and concise manner. 

Land Bank staff will provide a response to the extent possible. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 4 of 89

mailto:andrea.saah@phdc.phila.gov


PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 1 of 47 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

MAY 14, 2024 BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES (DRAFT) 

A Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank was held on Tuesday, 
May 14, 2024, via Zoom webinar, of which proper notices were given.  A condensed certified 
transcript of this meeting is attached to these minutes as Exhibit A. 

Call to Order 

Acting Board Chair Andrew Goodman called the meeting to order at 10:07 a.m. 

Andrea Imredy Saah, Senior Counsel, made the following announcements: 

Today’s Board meeting is being held via an authorized communication device and is being recorded. 
Questions and comments may be made using the Q&A function or by using the “raise hand” 
function. If you are calling in and not using the Zoom webinar link, you may ask questions or make 
comments by pressing *9 on your phone or using the “raise hand” function.  Please do not use the 
Chat function. If any member of the public has any issues submitting questions or comments, please 
send an email to Andrea.Saah@phdc.phila.gov.  Please note that all questions and comments received 
by email prior to this meeting or through the Q&A function during the meeting will be included in 
the minutes.  All questions and comments received before this meeting were shared with the Board. 

Prior to today’s Public Session, the Board held an Executive Session during which Mr. Rodriguez 
reviewed the agenda and discussed the process for running the meeting and the election to occur at 
the next meeting. 

Item I 
Roll Call 

The following members of the Board of Directors reported present: Darwin Beauvais, Cornelius 
Brown, Nicholas Dema, Andrew Goodman, Maria Gonzalez, Jenny Greenberg, Rebecca Lopez 
Kriss, and Herbert Wetzel. 

The following Board members were absent during roll call: Michael Johns and Majeedah Rashid. 

Mr. Goodman welcomed and congratulated the newest slate of Land Bank Board members appointed 
by the Mayor and City Council.  He also thanked the prior Board members who served for many 
years. 

The following Land Management staff members were present: Angel Rodriguez, Andrea Imredy 
Saah, Esq., Robert Spence, Esq., Todd Hestand, Brian Romano, Tracy Pinson-Reviere, Cristina 
Martinez, Mathen Pullukattu and Carolyn Terry. 

Public Attendees: The list of public attendees follows these minutes. 

A quorum of Directors was present, and the meeting, having been duly convened, proceeded with 
business. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 5 of 89

mailto:Andrea.Saah@phdc.phila.gov


PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 2 of 47 

Item II 
Approval of Board Minutes 

Mr. Goodman called for questions or comments from the Board regarding the minutes of the Board 
meeting of April 9, 2024. There were none. 

Following Mr. Goodman’s call for a motion, Mr. Dema moved to approve the minutes. Ms. Lopez 
Kriss seconded the motion. 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the April 9, 2024 Board 
Meeting minutes. 

Item III 
Executive Director’s Report 

Mr. Rodriguez acknowledged the departure of Board members Alex Balloon and Rick Sauer and 
thanked them for their service. 

Mr. Rodriguez then spoke about the Turn the Key (TTK) Open House held the previous week.  
Service providers, banks and developers who are building the houses were present.  1,600 people 
registered, and at least 300 people attended.  Mr. Rodriguez’s full comments about Turn the Key and 
the Open House can be found on pages 6 to 7 of the attached transcript. 

Item IV 
Administrative Matters 

IV.A.  Appointment of Board Chair

Mr. Rodriguez asked the Board to authorize the appointment of Herbert Wetzel as Board Chair until 
full elections can be held.  Herbert Wetzel is replacing Anne Fadullon, who resigned as Board Chair 
in December of 2023. 

Mr. Goodman called for questions or comments from the Board.  There were none. 

Mr. Goodman called for questions or comments from the public and then recognized Jihad Ali, who 
praised the experience of the new members and thanked the departing members for their service. 

Mr. Goodman recognized Patricia DeCarlo, who congratulated Herbert Wetzel on being nominated 
as Chair of the Land Bank Board.  Ms. DeCarlo hopes the new Board members will focus on truly 
affordable housing. 

Seeing no further comments from the public or the Board, Mr. Goodman called for a motion.  

Ms. Gonzalez moved to approve the appointment of Herbert Wetzel as Chair of the Land Bank 
Board.  Ms. Greenberg seconded the motion.  

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Appointing 
Herbert Wetzel as Board Chair (attached to these minutes as Exhibit B). 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 6 of 89



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 3 of 47 

Chair Wetzel thanked Mr. Goodman for the work he has done as Interim Chair and stated that he is 
looking forward to working with the Board and the staff to serve the citizens of Philadelphia. 

Mr. Rodriguez then read the Land Bank Board’s public comment policy governing public comment 
when requested by the Board Chair regarding specific agenda items.   

Chair Wetzel announced that Agenda Item V.B.2. (disposition of 45 properties for affordable 
homeownership development in Council District 7) was tabled. 

IV.B.  Date for Election of Board Officers

Mr. Rodriguez presented a resolution to hold officer elections for all officer positions and for the 
position of the 11th Board Member at the meeting of the Board of Directors on June 11, 2024, with 
said officers and the 11th Member to serve until their successors are elected at the next annual 
meeting. 

Chair Wetzel asked for confirmation that the next annual meeting will be in December of 2024.  Mr. 
Rodriguez confirmed that is correct. 

Mr. Lopez-Kriss requested that the Ms. Imredy Saah explain the election procedures.  Ms. Imredy 
Saah explained the procedure, and the full explanation can be found on pages 14 to 15 of the attached 
transcript. 

Chair Wetzel asked whether the nomination process will be repeated in November in advance of the 
annual meeting.  Ms. Imredy Saah confirmed that is correct. 

Ms. Lopez-Kriss asked if the nominations would be publicized prior to the next Board meeting. Ms. 
Imredy Saah stated the Land Bank has historically included the nominations in the published Board 
package prior to the meeting. 

Seeing no further comments from the public or the Board, Chair Wetzel called for a motion. 

Mr. Dema moved to approve the date of June 11th as the date for the Board officer and 11th member 
elections.  Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion. 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Setting 
Date for Election of Board Officers and 11th Board Member (attached to these minutes as 
Exhibit C). 

IV.C. Amendments to Approved Dispositions

IV.C.1.
Mr. Rodrigeuz introduced the next item, an amendment to Resolution No. 2022-38 adopted by the 
Board on October 11, 2022, which amended Resolution No. 2020-25 adopted by the Board on 
December 8, 2020, which approved the development of twenty-nine (29) single-family homes by 
BMK Properties, LLC.  The properties, 2037, 2039, 2047, 2050 and 2052 E. William Street in the 1st 
Council District, were already conveyed to the developer. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 7 of 89



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 4 of 47 

The developer is asking for approval to convert five (5) market rate units to five (5) Turn the Key-
eligible homes to be sold to purchasers with a household income at or below 100% of AMI for a 
maximum price of $280,000.  The units will be subject to a Declaration of Restrictive Covenants 
ensuring affordable ownership, and an EOP will continue to apply to the project. 

Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the Board. 

Mr. Dema asked for the current status of the development.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that the project 
is under construction, and that the previously approved TTK units in this development have all been 
sold. 

Ms. Gonzalez asked if all other TTK units in the project are at 100% of AMI.  Mr. Rodriguez 
responded that all other TTK units are at 100% of AMI. 

Ms. Imredy Saah clarified that the units are sold to eligible buyers “at or below” the applicable AMI 
level, and it is not in any way limited to buyers “at” the AMI level.  Ms. Imredy Saah also clarified 
that two of the previously approved affordable units in the development are being sold to purchasers 
with an income at or below 80% of AMI. 

Ms. Gonzalez stated that she believes the Board needs to do work on improving affordability levels 
in project, and that the Board needs to clarify what “affordable” means. 

Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the public. 

Chair Wetzel recognized Jihad Ali, who asked if the five (5) subject units have been sold.  Mr. 
Rodriguez responded that they have not been sold.  Mr. Ali then praised the quality of BMK’s 
construction and encouraged the Board members to tour the units. 

Chair Wetzel recognized Patricia DeCarlo, but she was unable to resolve her technical issues and 
therefore did not speak. 

Seeing no further comments from the public or the Board, Chair Wetzel called for a motion. 

Mr. Dema moved to approve the requested modification to the project.  Mr. Beauvais seconded the 
motion. 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Amending 
Resolutions 2022-38 and 2020-25 to Authorize Modification of Mixed-Income Homeownership 
Development to Convert Five (5) Market-Rate Homes to Turn the Key - Eligible Homes 
(attached to these minutes as Exhibit D). 

IV.C.2.
Mr. Rodrigeuz introduced the next item, an amendment to Resolution No. 2023-16 adopted by the 
Board on April 11, 2023, which amended Resolution No. 2022-30 adopted by the Board on 
September 13, 2022, which approved the renovation of six (6) single-family homes by West NoMa 
Revitalization Group LLC.  The properties, 759, 761, 763, 773 and 783 Pallas Street and 4041 
Cambridge Street in the 3rd Council District, were already conveyed to the developer. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 8 of 89



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 5 of 47 
 

After the conveyance to the developer and upon further inspection, the developer discovered 
substantial structural damage which rendered the homes on Pallas Street economically unviable for 
rehabilitation at the approved maximum price and maximum housing income level.  The proposal is 
to allow the developer to return the five (5) homes on Pallas Street to the Land Bank and complete 
the renovation of the home on Cambridge Street.  The remaining unit will be subject to a Declaration 
of Restrictive Covenants ensuring affordable ownership, and an EOP will continue to apply to the 
project. 
 
Mr. Dema commented on the low sales price.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that the maximum sales 
price and the household income level correspond with the project being a renovation and home prices 
for similar structures in that area. 
 
Mr. Goodman spoke about the need to prioritize the sale of vacant structures in order to reach a 
deeper level of affordability and to maintain the fabric of the neighborhoods.  Mr. Goodman would 
like to explore ways to expedite the interagency transfer process to avoid future similar situations. 
 
Chair Wetzel asked if any emails were received prior to the Board meeting.  There were none. 
 
Chair Wetzel recognized Jihad Ali, who concurred with Mr. Goodman and expressed his 
disappointment with the time elapsed between initial Board approval and the time at which the 
developer could begin working on the properties. 
 
Seeing no further comments from the public or the Board, Chair Wetzel called for a motion.   
 
Mr. Dema moved to approve the requested modification to the project.  Ms. Gonzalez seconded the 
motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Amending 
Resolutions 2022-38 and 2020-25 to Reconvey Properties to Philadelphia Land Bank, Remove 
Said Properties from Project Scope, and Revise Project Unit Count (attached to these minutes as 
Exhibit E). 
 

IV.C.3.  
Mr. Rodrigeuz introduced the next item, an amendment to Resolution No. 2019-35 adopted by the 
Board on May 15, 2019, which approved the development of twenty (20) homeownership units and 
twenty-eight (28) rental units by Mosaic Berks LP.  The properties, 1901-09 and 1911-15 N. 33rd 
Street in the 5th Council District, were already conveyed to the developer,  
 
The proposal is to allow the developer to (a) cure the Construction Completion Deadline default and 
(b) modify the proposed development and the completion deadlines to encompass twenty-seven (27) 
single-family homes to be built in three (3) phases, with fourteen (14) units to be sold to purchasers 
with an income at or below 100 % AMI at maximum sales prices ranging from $270,000 to 
$299,000,  making them eligible for participation in the Turn the Key Program, and thirteen (13) units to 
be sold at market rate for approximately $330,000 to $349,000.  The units will be subject to a 
Declaration of Restrictive Covenants ensuring affordable ownership, and an EOP will continue to 
apply to the project. 
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the Board. 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 9 of 89



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 6 of 47 
 

Ms. Gonzalez asked what the previously approved affordability levels were.  Mr. Rodriguez 
responded that all units in the previous version of the project were approved as market rate units.  
Ms. Imredy Saah added that the previous version of this project was approved pursuant to a previous 
disposition policy. 
 
Ms. Gonzalez commented that the Land Bank should encourage developers to do greater due 
diligence prior to signing any agreements.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that environmental reports were 
included in the RFP, and the environmental issues identified in the reports were factored into the 
purchase price. 
 
Mr. Dema asked what the impetus was for phasing the project.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that the 
phasing is associated with the developer’s financing plans. 
 
Chair Wetzel asked about questions or public comments prior to the Board meeting.  Ms. Imredy 
Saah responded that none were received. 
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions and comments from the public.   
 
Chair Wetzel recognized Jihad Ali, who expressed his support for this development.  Mr. Ali asked 
whether any units are condominium units, and Mr. Rodriguez responded that all units are 
condominium units, which Mr. Ali applauded. 
 
Seeing no further comments from the public or the Board, Chair Wetzel called for a motion.   
 
Mr. Dema moved to adopt the requested modifications to the development.  Ms. Greenberg seconded 
the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Amending 
Resolution 2019-35 to Modify Project Plans and Unit Count and Qualify Units for Turn the 
Key Program (attached to these minutes as Exhibit F). 
 

IV.D. Interagency Transfers 
 
Mr. Rodriguez presented the proposed transfer of the homes located at1944 W. Westmoreland Street 
in the 8th Council District and 5019 N. Camac Street in the 9th Council District to the Philadelphia 
Housing Development Corporation to support the preservation of affordable housing. 
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the Board.  There were none. 
 
Chair Wetzel asked if any questions or comments were received prior to the Board meeting.  None 
were received. 
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the public.  There were none. 
 
Seeing no comments from the public or the Board, Chair Wetzel called for a motion.   
 
Ms. Gonzalez moved to approve the interagency transfers.  Mr. Dema seconded the motion. 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 10 of 89



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 7 of 47 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution 
Authorizing Conveyance of 1944 West Westmoreland Street to Philadelphia Housing 
Development Corporation (attached to these minutes as Exhibit G) and Resolution Authorizing 
Conveyance of 5019 North Camac Street to Philadelphia Housing Development Corporation 
(attached to these minutes as Exhibit H). 

Ms. Imredy Saah clarified that with this vote the Board approved two resolutions because the 
properties are in separate Council districts. 

Item V 
Property Dispositions 

V.A. Side/Rear Yards 

Mr. Rodriguez requested that the Board authorize the conveyance of 2839 North Orianna Street in 
the 7th Council District to the adjacent owners, Pedro Alejandro Mencia Brito and Aryam Vargas 
Almonte, to be used as a side or rear yard.   The applicant is compliant and in good standing with the 
City of Philadelphia.  The property will be subject to a 30-year mortgage and use restrictions as a 
side or rear yard. 

Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the Board.  There were none. 

Chair Wetzel asked if any questions or comments were received prior to the Board meeting.  Ms. 
Imredy Saah responded that an adjacent neighbor wrote asking how they could acquire this property 
as a rear yard, but the property was not available to that applicant due to this prior application. 

Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the public.  Mr. Rodriguez recognized Aryam 
Vargas Almonte, one of the applicants.  Ms. Vargas Almonte was confused by Ms. Imredy Saah’s 
comment about the property being unavailable.  Ms. Gonzalez translated for the applicant in Spanish 
and explained that the Board was discussing the approval of the sale of the property to Ms. Vargas 
Almonte and her husband. 

Seeing no further comments from the public or the Board, Chair Wetzel called for a motion.  

Ms. Gonzalez moved to approve the disposition.  Mr. Dema seconded the motion. 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution 
Authorizing Conveyance of 2839 North Orianna Street to Pedro Alejandro Mencia Brito and 
Aryam Vargas Almonte (attached to these minutes as Exhibit I). 

V.B. Development – Affordable Housing (unsolicited) 

V.B.1.
Mr. Rodriguez requested the Board’s approval to convey 2806, 2903, 2907, 2913, 2917-19, 2925 and 
2937-39 Cecil B. Moore Avenue in the 5th Council District to Civetta Property Group LLC to 
develop nine (9) single-family homeownership units. All homes will be sold to households with 
incomes at or below 100% AMI with a maximum sale price of $280,000, and homebuyers will be 
eligible for the Neighborhood Preservation Initiative’s Turn the Key Program. The units will be 3 
stories, each approximately 1,200 square feet and containing 3 bedrooms and 2 baths. The homes 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 11 of 89



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 8 of 47 

will be subject to a Declaration of Restrictive Covenants. The application was unsolicited and 
evaluated pursuant to the disposition policy. An EOP plan will apply to this project. 

Ms. Gonzalez asked for clarification on the price after Turn the Key.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that, 
after including all subsidies, the net price will be approximately $175,000 for the homebuyers, with 
the monthly mortgage payments averaging $1,350.  Mr. Rodriguez added that the average TTK 
homebuyer earns approximately $45,000 annually and has a credit rating of approximately 600. 

Mr. Dema asked about the maximum sales price.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that the maximum sales 
price is $280,000, but that developers can sell for less than $280,000.  After including the subsidies, 
the purchasers are only responsible for paying, on average, $175,000 toward the sales price via their 
primary mortgage.  Mr. Dema asked about other subsidies being utilized in addition to Turn the Key 
money.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that up to $75,000 is provided as a soft second mortgage via TTK, 
all TTK recipients are eligible for an additional $10,000 grant from Philly First Home, and partner 
banks are providing additional downpayment assistance or subsidized loan products. 

Ms. Greenberg commented that one property might be an active side yard.  Mr. Rodriguez asked if 
Ms. Greenberg was referring to the property with a tent, which Ms. Greenberg confirmed.  Mr. 
Rodriguez responded that temporarily occupying a Land Bank property is not a side yard use.  He 
explained that the Land Bank checks the application addresses against pending side yard applications 
and stated that there are no pending side yard applications for any properties in this unsolicited 
application.  Mr. Rodriguez added that Council members have also identified certain areas where 
they will only accept applications for housing and will not approve side yard dispositions. 

Mr. Dema asked if the properties are located in the Philadelphia Housing Authority’s Blumberg 
transformation plan.  Mr. Rodriguez was not sure.  Chair Wetzel commented that it may be at the 
upper end of the PHA’s Sharswood Blumberg project. 

Chair Wetzel asked if any questions or comments were received prior to the Board meeting.  Ms. 
Imredy Saah stated that the Land Bank received a letter opposing the development from Gregory 
Portner, who identified himself as a neighborhood resident.  Mr. Portner is concerned about 
affordable housing development in the area and believes affordable housing will exacerbate existing 
neighborhood challenges with crime, cleanliness, and strains on local resources.  Mr. Porter also 
believes contractors do not sufficiently respect existing neighbors.  The letter is attached to the 
minutes as Exhibit J. 

Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the public. 

Chair Wetzel recognized Jihad Ali, who stated that he supports Turn the Key and the community 
wealth creation that it supports.  Mr. Ali is concerned about the EOP Plan and frustrated that he does 
not get to review the actual EOP plans or the reports and their details.  He would like the Board to be 
more involved in oversight of the EOP contractors.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that the Land Bank 
does not set EOP goals or monitor EOP compliance, as those functions lie within the Division of 
Housing and Community Development (DHCD) and the Office of Economic Opportunity (OEO).  
Developers are required to meet with DHCD and OEO to establish EOP goals, and the departments 
monitor progress on a monthly basis.  If developers are not compliant with EOP goals, the Land 
Bank has contractual rights to issue a stop work order until the developer can better comply with the 
goals. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 12 of 89



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 9 of 47 
 

Chair Wetzel asked for clarification regarding the monthly reports.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that the 
Land Bank holds a construction start meeting with developers, and the Land Bank project manager 
explains the EOP goals and requirements in detail.  If developers failed to meet or to make a good 
faith effort to meet their EOP goals, the Land Bank would not issue a Certificate of Completion, and 
the developer would be unable to sell the noncompliant property.  Chair Wetzel asked if the reports 
are made public.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that the reports are aggregated by DHCD and OEO, and 
reports with aggregated information are released to the public. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez next recognized Adam Butler, who thinks it is unacceptable that EOP reporting is only 
done in the aggregate.  Mr. Butler also believes the property with a tent is being used as a community 
space.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that no one has permission to use the property, that the Council 
member has not made the land available for purchase as a side/rear yard, and therefore it cannot be 
currently in use as a side yard.  Mr. Butler next asked how the public can identify areas where side 
yards are available for purchase.  Mr. Rodriguez responded that the Land Bank website application 
will identify whether a property is available for disposition as a side or rear yard if an applicant 
resides next to it.  Mr. Butler’s full comments and exchange with Mr. Rodriguez can be found on 
pages 58 to 61 of the attached transcript. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez recognized the developer, Brennan Tomasetti.  Ms. Tomasetti stated that Civetta is 
committed to partnering with minority- and women-owned businesses and to providing full reporting 
to the appropriate City departments.  As of its most recent reporting from April, while Civetta’s goal 
was set at 25% for minority-owned businesses, the actual number was 30%.  The target for women-
owned businesses was 10%, and the actual number was 16%.  Ms. Tomasetti added that Civetta is 
committed to continuing to meet and exceed their EOP goals. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez recognized Patricia DeCarlo. Ms. DeCarlo expressed her opinion that the Land Bank 
is not concerned with neighborhood residents’ use of Land Bank property and that the Land Bank 
will proceed to sell the property for development without consideration for the time and effort 
neighborhood residents had invested in the property. 
 
Mr. Jeremy Blatstein was recognized next and stated this project is in line with the goals of the Turn 
the Key program.  The goal is to build more affordable housing, and the project meets all guidelines.  
Mr. Blatstein encouraged the Land Bank Board to approve the project and allow it to move forward 
to Council for final approval. 
 
Chair Wetzel called for questions or comments from the Board.  Ms. Gonzalez said it would be 
beneficial if the staff would report regularly on EOP plan numbers for projects on Land Bank land, 
and to also report on the demographics of people buying the TTK homes.  This information would 
serve to inform the Board and public about the great work being done by developers building homes 
on property sold by the Land Bank. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez recognized Omaira Santiago, who expressed her concerns about the affordability 
levels and the reality that people on fixed incomes cannot afford Turn the Key properties.  She would 
like to see more housing built for those on fixed and lower incomes. 
 
Seeing no further comments from the public or the Board, Chair Wetzel called for a motion regarding 
this disposition.   
 
Mr. Beauvais moved to approve the disposition.  Mr. Dema seconded the motion. 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 13 of 89



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 10 of 47 
 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution 
Authorizing Conveyance of 2806, 2903, 2907, 2913, 2917-19, 2925 and 2937-39 Cecil B. Moore 
Avenue to Civetta Property Group LLC (attached to these minutes as Exhibit K). 
 

Item VI 
Public Comment (Old & New Business) 

 
Mr. Rodriguez recognized Jihad Ali, who reiterated his request for more information regarding EOP 
compliance, so that all work is not concentrated with a small number of MBE and WBE contractors.  
Mr. Ali’s full comments can be found on pages 69 to 71 of the attached transcript. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez recognized Adam Butler.  Mr. Butler believes the Land Bank Board meetings should 
revert to in-person meetings.  Mr. Butler also expressed a desire to have translation services available 
at all meetings.  Lastly, Mr. Butler is also a volunteer at Iglesias Garden, and he does not think it is 
fair that they have spent years negotiating to acquire the property and are still waiting on a final 
resolution.  Mr. Butler’s full comments can be found on pages 71 to 73 of the attached transcript. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez recognized Mo Rushdy.  Mr. Rushdy thanked the Land Bank for organizing the Turn 
the Key open house, and the opportunity to meet with potential homebuyers. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez recognized Jeremy Blatstein. Mr. Blatstein wanted to reiterate that City Council had 
set the affordability levels in the Turn the Key legislation, and that it is not up to the developer or 
Land Bank to set or renegotiate those levels. 
 
Chair Wetzel thanked staff for helping him get through his first meeting. 
 

Item VII 
Adjournment 

 
Seeing no further comments from the Board or the public, Chair Wetzel called for a motion to 
adjourn.   
 
Ms. Gonzalez moved to adjourn the meeting, and Mr. Beauvais seconded the motion. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously voted to adjourn at 11:49 am. 
 
NOTE:  Any comments and questions submitted via the Q&A function follow the list of attendees 
attached to these minutes. 
 
 
 

  
SECRETARY TO THE BOARD

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 14 of 89



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 11 of 47 
 

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, May 14, 2024, at 10:00 AM, held remotely using Zoom Webinar. 
 

User Name 
Jamila Davis 

Lawrence Macey 
Abdul-Rahim Muhammnad 

Patricia De Carlo 
Brennan Tomasetti 

Jihad Ali 
Wadia Gardiner 

Mo Rushdy 
Lawrence McKnight 

Julian Rios 
Omaira Santiago 

Sloane Folks 
Jeremy Blatstein 
Manny Delgado 

Tawny Koslowsky 
Noemi Rivera 

Carmella Vassor-Johnson 
Mike Tomasetti 

Ryan Gittler-Muniz 
Suzanne Ponsen 
Jake Blumgart 

Antonio Cerqueira 
Isabel Harner 
Thom Webster 

Daniel Galarraga 
Roshan Basil (stanton) 

Kiana Gonzalez 
Gordon Cain 

Kyra Lee 
Leah Apgar 

Aimee Thomson 
Moussa Doumbouya 

Gary Grube 
Rodolfo Santos 
Jessica Albright 
Svitlana Tutova 
Conlan Crosley 

 
Page 1 of 2  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 15 of 89



PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 12 of 47 
 

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, May 14, 2024, at 10:00 AM, held remotely using Zoom Webinar.  
 

User Name 
Ubong Udoekwere 

Leslie Fuentes 
Shae Jackson 

Aaron Turkson 
Anne Nygard 

Patricia Hawkins 
Nayezge Heyer 
To-Sheng Chen 
Yesenia Velez 

Lilly Lugo 
Migdalia Mendez 

Leon Buie 
Pedro Mencia 

Aryam A Vargas 
John Childress 
Austin Simone 

Naamir Truesdale 
Kristen Stenson 
Montana Leaks 

Laura Schwingel 
Lydia Hurtado 
Adam Butler 
Zoom user 
Valerie B 
Alex B 

Michael McIlhinney 
Jessie Lawrence 

Mara Henao 
John Mondlak 

Doug Fath 
Leslie Smallwood 

Marcus Barnes 
Caller 1 
Caller 2 
Caller 3 
Caller 4 
Caller 5 

 
Page 2 of 2 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 16 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 13 of 47 

PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED IN Q&A 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, May 14, 2024, at 10:00 AM, held remotely using Zoom Webinar 

# Question Asker Name Answer 

1 

Please come and see the memorial for Jose in 
the vacant lots: OPA: 183335500, 183335401, 
183335300, 183335200, 183335101. We want 
you to stop selling these lots for neighborhood 
community green space/memorial. Kristen Stenson 

2 

Vacant Land IDS  
OPA: 183335500, 183335401, 183335300, 
183335200, 183335101 

Please consider selling off these vacant lots in 
our neighborhood to protect community green 
space and a memorial to our neighbor Jose. Austin Simone 

3 

Please, we would love to build gardens/compost 
stations. Please in these lots specifically: OPA: 
183335500, 183335401, 183335300, 
183335200, 183335101! Congrats also Herbert! Kristen Stenson 

4 

Andrea can you please clarify the item that was 
tabled VB2. Does that mean it will NOT be 
addressed today? Tawny Koslowsky 

That is correct. The Board will 
not consider item V.B.2 

5 Thank you Tawny Koslowsky 

6 

Why are we tabling Points V B 2? why was this 
tabled? is it because we are here to discuss 
those? are you aware that this is time we are 
taking off to be able to attend these meetings? Mara Henao 

7 
are bilingual translation services not provided 
on these land bank meetings? kiana gonzalez 

8 Thank you for your service Ms. Gonzalez kiana gonzalez 

9 

Greetings, Have the ICPIC New Afreica Center 
CDC, 4215 thru 4221 Brown Street application 
been reviewed? 

Abdul-Rahim 
Muhammnad 

It is in the process of being 
reviewed. 

10 
Thank you. Can we get a lettter from PLB to 
show to funders? 

Abdul-Rahim 
Muhammnad 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 17 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 14 of 47 
 

 
 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 18 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 15 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 19 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 16 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 20 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 17 of 47 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 21 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 18 of 47 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 22 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 19 of 47 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 23 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 20 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 24 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 21 of 47 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 25 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 22 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 26 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 23 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 27 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 24 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 28 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 25 of 47 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 29 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 26 of 47 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 30 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 27 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 31 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 28 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 32 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 29 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 33 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 30 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 34 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 31 of 47 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 35 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 32 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 36 of 89



Exhibit A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 33 of 47 
 

 
  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 37 of 89



Exhibit B 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 34 of 47 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 11 

RESOLUTION APPOINTING HERBERT WETZEL AS BOARD CHAIR 

WHEREAS, former Deputy Mayor of the Department of Planning and Development of the 
City of Philadelphia Anne Fadullon was appointed by the Mayor of Philadelphia to serve on the 
Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors (the “Board”) on January 27, 2020 and served as Chair 
of the Board from May 12, 2020 until her resignation on December 13, 2023; 

WHEREAS, on April 24, 2024, Cherelle Parker, Mayor of Philadelphia, appointed Herbert 
Wetzel to fill the Board of Directors vacancy created by Anne Fadullon’s resignation; 

WHEREAS, Section 201 of the Bylaws of the Philadelphia Land Bank (as amended) states 
“If an office is vacated, the position may be filled during a regular meeting of the Board;” 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 
Land Bank that, in accordance with Section 201 of the Bylaws of the Philadelphia Land Bank, 
Herbert Wetzel is elected Chair of the Board until a full election of the officers of the Board of 
Directors is held. 

This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on May 14, 2024. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 38 of 89



Exhibit C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 35 of 47 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 12 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE FOR ELECTION OF BOARD OFFICERS AND 11TH 
BOARD MEMBER 

WHEREAS, the Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors did not hold officer elections at 
its Fiscal Year 2024 Annual Meeting on December 12, 2023, as the newly elected appointing 
authorities had not yet assumed office; and 

WHEREAS, the Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors, being newly appointed by the 
appointing authorities, now desires to elect its officers and appoint the 11th Member of the Board in 
accordance with its bylaws; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 
Land Bank that the Board will hold officer elections for all officer positions and for the position of 
the 11th Board Member at the meeting of the Board of Directors on June 11, 2024, with said officers 
and 11th Member to serve until their successors are elected. 

This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on May 14, 2024. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 39 of 89



Exhibit D 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 36 of 47 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 13 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTIONS 2022-38 AND 2020-25 TO AUTHORIZE 
MODIFICATION OF MIXED-INCOME HOMEOWNERSHIP DEVELOPMENT TO 

CONVERT FIVE (5) MARKET-RATE HOMES TO TURN THE KEY - ELIGIBLE HOMES 
 

WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 
Bank (“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 
terms and conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 2020-25 adopted on December 8, 2020 and Resolution 
2022-38 adopted on October 11, 2022, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved the 
conveyance of 2037, 2038, 2039, 2040, 2042, 2044, 2047, 2050, 2052, 2056, 2058, 2060, 2062, 
2066, 2068, and 2201-29 East William Street and 2306 Collins Street (collectively, the “Property”) 
to BMK Properties, LLC (the “Developer”) for the development of twenty-nine (29) single-family 
homes, including thirteen (13) homes to be sold to households with an income at or below one 
hundred percent (100%) of Area Median Income (“AMI”), two (2) homes to be sold to households 
with an income at or below eighty percent (80%) of AMI, and fourteen (14) homes to be sold at 
market rate; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Developer has requested a modification of the development plans to 

convert 5 (five) of the fourteen (14) market-rate homes, located at 2037, 2039, 2047, 2050 and 2052 
East William Street, into homes to be sold to households with an income at or below one hundred 
percent (100%) of AMI, and to record a Declaration of Restrictive Covenants against the five (5) 
homes, permitting the homes to be eligible for participation in the Turn the Key program; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the Land Bank to 

approve the modification of the development plans as requested by the Developer; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 
Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 
1. The requested modification of the development plans is in the best interests of the Land Bank and 

is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 
2. The requested modification complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 

of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 40 of 89



Exhibit D 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 37 of 47 
 

appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on May 14, 2024. 

Philadelphia City Council Resolution No. ___________ dated __________________ 

 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 41 of 89



Exhibit E 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 38 of 47 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 14 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTIONS 2022-38 AND 2020-25 TO RECONVEY 
PROPERTIES TO PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK, REMOVE SAID PROPERTIES FROM 

PROJECT SCOPE,  AND REVISE PROJECT UNIT COUNT 
 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 
Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 
terms and conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 2022-30 adopted on September 13, 2022 and Resolution 
2023-16 adopted on April 11, 2023, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved the conveyance 
of 759, 761, 763, 773, 779 and 783 Pallas Street and 4041 Cambridge Street (collectively, the 
“Properties”) to West NoMa Revitalization Group LLC (the “Developer”) for the renovation of 
seven (7) affordable homeownership units (each, a “Home”) to be sold to households with an income 
at or below eighty percent (80%) of Area Median Income (“AMI”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Land Bank conveyed 759, 761, 763, 773 and 783 Pallas Street and 4041 

Cambridge Street to the Developer, the structure on 779 Pallas Street having been demolished prior 
to the conveyance and therefore being excluded from the conveyance;  

 
WHEREAS, subsequent to the conveyance, the Developer determined that the structures on 

the remaining Pallas Street properties were in such poor condition that their renovation was 
financially not feasible; 

 
WHEREAS, the Developer has requested permission to reconvey 759, 761, 763, 773 and 

783 Pallas Street to the Land Bank, to retain 4041 Cambridge Street for renovation under the terms 
of the Purchase and Development Agreement, and to amend the Purchase and Development 
Agreement to exclude the Pallas Street properties from the project scope, thereby reducing the 
project scope to the renovation of one home at 4041 Cambridge Street; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the Land Bank to 

approve the modification of the development plans as requested by the Developer; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 
Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 
1. The requested reconveyance of 759, 761, 763, 773 and 783 Pallas Street to the Land Bank and 

the modification of the development plans to reduce the project scope to the renovation of one 
home at 4041 Cambridge Street is in the best interests of the Land Bank and hereby approved, 
subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 
2. The conveyance of the Pallas Street properties and the modification of the project scope complies 

with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to 
approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 42 of 89



Exhibit E 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 39 of 47 
 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 
hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on May 14, 2024. 

Philadelphia City Council Resolution No. ___________ dated __________________ 

 
 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 43 of 89



Exhibit F 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 40 of 47 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 15 
 

RESOLUTION AMENDING RESOLUTION 2019-35 TO MODIFY PROJECT PLANS  
AND UNIT COUNT AND QUALIFY UNITS FOR TURN THE KEY PROGRAM 

 
WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (“Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 
terms and conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 2019-35 adopted on May 15, 2019, the Board of 
Directors (the “Board”) approved the conveyance of 1901-09 North 33rd Street and 1911-15 North 
33rd Street (collectively, the “Property”) to Mosaic Berks, LP (the “Developer”) for the 
development of twenty (20) homeownership (condominium) units and a maximum of thirty-five (35) 
rental units along with commercial space (the “Project”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Developer was required by the Purchase and Development Agreement, as 

amended by an addendum (the “Agreement”) to complete construction by twenty-four months 
following the conveyance of the Property to the Developer, the date of which conveyance was March 
3, 2021;  

 
WHEREAS, the Developer has not commenced construction on the Project, and the 

Developer’s failure to timely complete construction constitutes an Event of Default under the 
Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Developer has requested a modification of the Project to encompass a total 

of twenty-seven (27) residential condominium units, of which fourteen (14) units are to be sold to 
households with an income at or below one hundred percent (100%) of Area Median Income at a sale 
price that qualifies the units for participation in the Turn the Key program, while thirteen (13) units 
are to be sold at market rate, with no commercial space included in the Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is in the best interests of the Land Bank to 

approve the modification of the Project as requested by the Developer; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the 
Philadelphia Land Bank that: 
 
1. The Developer is permitted to cure the Event of Default existing under the prior Purchase and 

Development Agreement, as amended. 
 
2. The requested modification of the Project is in the best interests of the Land Bank and hereby 

approved, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 
3. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 44 of 89



Exhibit F 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 41 of 47 

4. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each
hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver,
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank.

5. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting
following the date of such modifications.

6. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board.

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on May 14, 2024. 

Philadelphia City Council Resolution No. ___________ dated __________________ 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 45 of 89



Exhibit G 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 42 of 47 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 16 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF 1944 WEST WESTMORELAND 
STREET TO PHILADELPHIA HOUSING DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

 
WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to the terms and conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code; 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 
interests of the Land Bank to convey 1944 West Westmoreland Street (the “Property”) to the 
Philadelphia Housing Development Corporation (the “PHDC”) for disposition, reuse and/or 
management as determined by the PHDC; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 
Land Bank that: 
 
This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 
1. The conveyance of the Property to the PHDC for One and 00/100 U.S. Dollar ($1.00) is in the best 

interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved. 
 
2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code. 
 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on May 14, 2024. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 46 of 89



Exhibit H 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 43 of 47 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 17 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF 5019 NORTH CAMAC STREET 
TO PHILADELPHIA HOUSING DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

 
WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to the terms and conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code; 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 
interests of the Land Bank to convey 5019 North Camac Street (the “Property”) to the Philadelphia 
Housing Development Corporation (the “PHDC”) for disposition, reuse and/or management as 
determined by the PHDC; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 
Land Bank that: 
 
This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 
1. The conveyance of the Property to the PHDC for One and 00/100 U.S. Dollar ($1.00) is in the best 

interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved. 
 
2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code. 
 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on May 14, 2024. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 47 of 89



Exhibit I 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 44 of 47 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 18 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF 2839 NORTH ORIANNA STREET 
TO PEDRO ALEJANDRO MENCIA BRITO AND ARYAM VARGAS ALMONTE 

 
WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 
terms and conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code. 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 
interests of the Land Bank to convey 2839 North Orianna Street (the “Property”) to Pedro Alejandro 
Mencia Brito and Aryam Vargas Almonte (collectively, the “Purchaser”). 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 
Land Bank that: 
 
This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 
1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for One and 00/100 U.S. Dollar ($1.00) and a 

thirty (30) year mortgage for Twelve Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety-Nine and 00/100 U.S. Dollars 
($12,999.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by 
resolution of Philadelphia City Council.  

 
2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on May 14, 2024. 

Philadelphia City Council Resolution No. ___________ dated __________________ 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 48 of 89



Exhibit J 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 45 of 47 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 49 of 89



Exhibit J 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 46 of 47 
 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 50 of 89



Exhibit K 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for May 14, 2024 Page 47 of 47 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024 – 19 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF 2806, 2903, 2907, 2913, 2917-19, 2925 
AND 2937-39 CECIL B. MOORE AVENUE TO CIVETTA PROPERTY GROUP LLC 

 
WHEREAS, Section 16-707 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 
property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 
Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 
terms and conditions of Chapter 16-404 of the Philadelphia Code; 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 
interests of the Land Bank to convey 2806, 2903, 2907, 2913, 2917-19, 2925 and 2937-39 Cecil B. 
Moore Avenue (the “Property”) to Civetta Property Group LLC (the “Purchaser”); 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 
Land Bank that: 
 
This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 
1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Nine Hundred and 00/100 U.S. Dollars 

($900.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by 
resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 
2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 
 
3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 
and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 
desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 
Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 
Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 
Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 
appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 
Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 
4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 
Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 
following the date of such modifications. 

 
5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 
 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on May 14, 2024. 

Philadelphia City Council Resolution No. ___________ dated __________________ 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for June 11, 2024 Page 51 of 89




